AL-OE-BR-TR-1998-0006



UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ARMSTRONG LABORATORY

Simulation Studies Examining Possible Mechanisms of Trichloroethylene Carcinogenicity

Robert C. Lee Scott M. Bartell William Griffith

Department of Environmental Health University of Washington Seattle, WA 98195

E. Georg Luebeck

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center MP-665 Seattle, WA 98104

Elaine M. Faustman

Department of Environmental Health and Institute for Risk Analysis and Risk Communication University of Washington Seattle, WA

March 1998

19980331 010

Approved for public release;

distribution is unlimited.

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 8

Occupational and Environmental Health Directorate Occupational Medicine Division 2402 E Drive Brooks Air Force Base TX 78235-5114

NOTICES

When Government drawings, specifications, or other data are used for any purpose other than in connection with a definitely Government-related procurement, the United States Government incurs no responsibility or any obligation whatsoever. The fact that the Government may have formulated or in any way supplied the said drawings, specifications, or other data, is not to be regarded by implication, or otherwise in any manner construed, as licensing the holder or any other person or corporation; or as conveying any rights or permission to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may in any way be related thereto.

The mention of trade names or commercial products in this publication is for illustration purposes and does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for use by the United State Air Force.

The Office of Public Affairs has reviewed this report, and it is releasable to the National Technical Information Service, where it will be available to the general public, including foreign nationals.

This report has been reviewed and is approved for publication.

Government agencies and their contractors registered with Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC) should direct requests for copies to: Defense Technical Information Center, 8725 John J. Kingman Rd., STE 0944, Ft. Belvoir, VA 22060-6218.

Non-Government agencies may purchase copies of this report from: National Technical Information Services (NTIS), 5285, Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161-2103.

ANDREW T. MACCABE, Major, USAF, BSC Chief, Health Risk Assessment Branch

KENT R. STRINGHAM, LtCol, USAF, BSC Chief, Occupational Medicine Division

| REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE | | | | | Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188 | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| Public reporting burden for this collection of in gathering and maintaining the data needed, an collection of information, including suggestion Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 223 | nd compl is for rea | leting and reviewing the collection of ducing this burden, to Washington He | information. Send comments rega eadquarters Services, Directorate for | arding this b or Informatio | urden estimate or any other aspect of this operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson | | |
| 1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave bla | ank) | 2. REPORT DATE | 3. REPORT TYPE AN | D DATES COVERED | | | |
| | | March 1998 | Fina | | 995 - Jan 1998 | | |
| 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE | | | | I | DING NUMBERS | | |
| Simulation Studies Examining P Carcinogenicity | 20SSID | le Mechanisms of Trichlo | roethylene | N00012 | I-95-D-0048, D.O. 0003 | | |
| 6. AUTHOR(S) Lee, Robert C., Luebeck, E. Ge Elaine M. | eorg, | Bartell, Scott M., Griffith | i, William, Faustman, | | | | |
| 7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION University of Washington | NAM | E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) | | | ORMING ORGANIZATION | | |
| Department of Environmental H | [ealth | | 1 | | | | |
| Box 354695 | - | | | | | | |
| Seattle WA 98195 | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| 9. SPONSORING/MONITORING A Det 1, Human Systems Center | | | ES) | | NSORING/MONITORING NCY REPORT NUMBER | | |
| Occupational and Environmental | | th Directorate | | | | | |
| Occupational Medicine Division | 1 | | | AL-OE | -BR-TR-1998-0006 | | |
| 2402 E Drive | | | | | | | |
| Brooks Air Force Base TX 7823 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES | 35-511 | 4 | | | | | |
| Approved for public release; di | Stribu | | | | | | |
| 13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 wo There has been much recent inte | | egarding methods of evalu | nating potential human c | ancer ris | ks associated with | | |
| trichloroethylene (TCE). Stocha | | | | | 1 | | |
| these risks. BBDR models have | | | • · · | - | | | |
| paper examines the sensitivity of | | | | | | | |
| and the ability of the model to d | | | - | | _ | | |
| estimation is used to fit parameter | ers to | simulated data sets assum | ing different carcinogen | ic mecha | nisms and low-dose response | | |
| for TCE. Monte Carlo simulation | ons ar | e used to simulate experiment | nental variability and mo | echanisti | c assumptions. Changes in | | |
| experimental design are evaluate | ed that | allow carcinogenic mech | anisms to be more clear | ly disting | guished. These analyses | | |
| provide information regarding u | ncerta | inties associated with care | cinogenic mechanisms of | f TCE, a | nd provide possible guidance | | |
| for laboratory-based toxicologic | al eva | luations. | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| 14. SUBJECT TERMS | | 1 | • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | | 15. NUMBER OF PAGES | | |
| trichloroethylene, liver cancer, N | Monte | Carlo, modeling | | | 50 | | |
| | | | | | 16. PRICE CODE | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| 17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT | | ECURITY CLASSIFICATION F THIS PAGE | 19. SECURITY CLASSIFI OF ABSTRACT | CATION | 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT | | |
| Unclassified | | Unclassified | Unclassified | | UL | | |
| | | | | Stan | dard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) (EG) | | |

Ĺ

ä

~

;

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | 1 |
|---------------------------------------------------------|------|
| INTRODUCTION | 2 |
| BACKGROUND | 2 |
| Biologically-Based Cancer Models | 2 |
| TCE Toxicology | |
| TCE Toxicokinetics | |
| METHODS | 8 |
| Hypothetical Experimental Design | |
| Model Form | |
| Data Sources | |
| Model Parameterization | |
| SIMULATIONS | . 11 |
| Sensitivity of Model Results to Parameter Assumptions | . 12 |
| Effect of Different Experimental Designs | |
| Model Misspecifications using Dose-Response Assumptions | . 16 |
| DISCUSSION | . 20 |
| REFERENCES | . 24 |
| APPENDIX: | . 35 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE 1: Maximum-likelihood estimates of MVK model parameters, (1990) male B6C3F1 mouse data | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| TABLE 2: Correlation coefficient matrices for parameters of the E calculated under different experimental design assumptions using th male B6C3F1 mouse data (High correlation coefficients indicate th the model to discriminate between parameters) | e NTP (1990) ne inability of |
| TABLE 3: Simulated MVK model parameter values under different net cel dose-response assumptions. Model A incorporates the defined hypo response function. Models B and C are misspecified. | othetical dose- |

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

| FIGURE 1: Moolgavkar-Venzon-Knudson (MVK) 2-mutation clonal expansion model. This is a simplification of the model form, which can be found in Moolgavkar and Lluebeck (1990) |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| FIGURE 2: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Values of p_2 (initiation) were assumed to be 0.5×, 1.0×, and 2.0× the background initiation rate of 50[day] ⁻¹ , with no changes in chronic promotion rate (p_1) |
| FIGURE 3: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Values of p_1 (promotion) were assumed to be 2×, 4×, and 10× the fitted values from the NTP data (0.005 [day] ⁻¹), with no changes in chronic initiation rate (p_2) |
| FIGURE 4: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Independent contribution to tumor hazard from fitted values of p_1 (promotion) and p_2 (initiation) fit from the NTP data are plotted. Additionally, tumor hazard that is associated with the joint effect of the fitted value of p_1 and 4X the fitted value of p_2 are plotted. Note that it is difficult to separate independent initiation and promotion effects |
| FIGURE 5: Simulated excess risk for TCE dose of 1 mg/kg/d (underlying model assumption = quadratic dose-response in net cell proliferation) |

SIMULATION STUDIES EXAMINING POSSIBLE MECHANISMS OF TRICHLOROETHYLENE CARCINOGENICITY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Objective

There has been much recent interest regarding methods of evaluating potential human cancer risks associated with trichloroethylene (TCE). Stochastic biologically based dose-response (BBDR) models, along with physiologically based toxicokinetic (PBTK) models, offer possible means of reducing uncertainties associated with these risks. BBDR models have been used to evaluate the effects of cancer initiators and promoters at a cellular level. This report examines the sensitivity of the Moolgavkar-Venzon-Knudson (MVK) 2-stage model to variations in model parameters, and the ability of the model to distinguish between initiating and promoting activity of TCE. Maximum-likelihood estimation is used to fit parameters to simulated data sets assuming different carcinogenic mechanisms for TCE, and assuming different dose-response functions for net cell proliferation. Monte Carlo simulations are used to simulate experimental variability. These analyses provide information regarding uncertainties associated with carcinogenic mechanisms of TCE, and provide possible hypotheses for laboratory-based toxicological evaluations.

Summary of Results

- This simulation exercise demonstrates the range of uncertainties that result from different model assumptions applied to rodent toxicity data and demonstrates critical data needs.
- Promotion may be a more important contributor to tumor hazard than genotoxicity over a lifetime of chronic exposure in mice. In these simulations, a doubling of initiation rate resulted in a 5-fold increase in tumor hazard at day 730, whereas a doubling in promotion rate resulted in a 15-fold increase in tumor hazard at day 730.
- The MVK 2-mutation model fit to TCE data is highly sensitive to net cell proliferation rate (α-β).
- The model was not able to discriminate well between the respective contribution to tumor risk from initiating vs. promoting action using standard published rodent data applied to a chronic exposure scenario.

- Improvements in discrimination resulted from simulating early sacrifices (56-500 days), as indicated by decreased correlation coefficients between initiation and promotion parameters.
- Use of a linear model results in implausible parameter fits and overestimates of risk (~3 orders of magnitude at the median) if the true dose-response relationship in cell proliferation is quadratic.
- Reductions in uncertainty would likely result from collection of intermediate foci data and other mechanistic information, as well as incorporating toxicokinetic and metabolite toxicity information into the TCE model.

INTRODUCTION

This work was performed in support of development of risk based human health standards to be applied to trichloroethylene (TCE) under the United States Air Force and GeoCenters Inc Contract N00014-95-D-0048, DO 0003 and Subcontract GC-2994-03-96-004. The focus of this work was to evaluate uncertainties associated with possible carcinogenic dose-response of TCE. The Statement of Work associated with this contract (as of 11/7/96) includes the following analyses:

- 1. Evaluation of existing TCE toxicity data (discussed under TCE Toxicology);
- Evaluation of physiologically based toxicokinetic (PBTK) models for TCE (discussed under TCE Toxicokinetics);

ŧ

- Quantitative uncertainty analysis and sensitivity analysis to identify important data gaps within PBTK and biologically based dose-response (BBDR) models (discussed under Simulations);
- 4. Comparisons of appropriate BBDR models (discussed under Simulations).

BACKGROUND

Biologically-Based Cancer Models

Carcinogenic potencies of xenobiotics are estimated by modeling data from epidemiological studies, animal toxicology experiments, and *in vitro* investigations. There are a number of

models that have been used for this purpose; ranging from simple statistical data fits to mechanistic biologically based dose-response (BBDR) models. Existing BBDR models have evolved from the original multistage model of Armitage and Doll (1957) (AD model). Sophisticated variants of the AD model (Kopp-Schneider & Portier 1991), as well as the Moolgavkar-Venzon-Knudson (MVK) 2-mutation clonal expansion model (Moolgavkar & Luebeck 1990) allow incorporation of cellular-level mechanistic events such as dose-response in cell proliferation, and therefore allow exploration of carcinogenic mechanisms. The MVK model is explored here as the basis for simulations.

Figure 1 is a graphical depiction of the MVK model. Briefly, the MVK model simulates cancer as a 2-mutation stochastic process, incorporating rates of mutation and cell proliferation. The MVK model has been applied to a number of experiments designed to investigate carcinogenic mechanisms. For example, the model has been applied to experimental data describing the growth kinetics of enzyme-altered liver foci in rats treated with phenobarbital and α hexachlorocyclohexane (Luebeck et al. 1995), as well as data describing initiation with diethylnitrosamine and subsequent promotion with 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin or 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (Moolgavkar et al. 1996). The model can be applied to appropriate human data; for example, interactions between tobacco smoking and radon exposures in humans have been explored in an analysis of the Colorado Uranium miners cohort (Moolgavkar et al. 1993).

Simulation exercises using variants of the AD and MVK models have been conducted in order to explore the behavior of these models. For instance, Kopp-Schneider and Portier (1991) found that the ability to discriminate between different models applied to actual and simulated tumor incidence data is limited. Portier and Edler (1990) found that two-mutation model simulations were unable to clearly distinguish between promotion and initiation mechanisms at low doses. These and other simulation exercises have pointed out the problematic nature of using information from current experimental designs in mechanistic models. However, simulations are useful in terms of positing hypotheses for improved experimental design and data collection.



Figure 1: Moolgavkar-Venzon-Knudson (MVK) 2-mutation clonal expansion model. This is a simplification of the model form, which can be found in Moolgavkar and Luebeck (1990).

TCE Toxicology

There is debate regarding the specific mechanisms of action of TCE that may relate to human cancer risk (IARC 1995). TCE has a wide range of toxic effects in humans, mainly manifested at high doses. Exposures to TCE at concentrations above about 200 ppm can cause intoxication, headaches, and neurological problems. Long-term chronic health effects to humans from lower-dose exposures are uncertain. TCE is currently considered by the International Agency for Research on Cancer as "probably carcinogenic to humans" (classification 2A), based on "limited" evidence in humans and "sufficient" evidence from rodent carcinogenicity assays (IARC 1995),

but it is by no means certain that this endpoint is appropriate in terms of risk assessment and management. EPA is currently reviewing its position on TCE's possible carcinogenicity.

TCE (1000 mg/kg by gavage, lifetime exposure) appears to cause liver cancer in mice, but not in rats; and perhaps kidney tumors in rats, but not in mice (NTP 1988, 1990). Increases in lung tumors have been seen in mice inhaling 300 and 600 ppm chronically for a lifetime (Maltoni 1986, 1988). The weight-of-evidence suggests that TCE's hepatic and perhaps renal carcinogenicity is largely attributable to two metabolites: dichloroacetic acid (DCA) and trichloroacetic acid (TCA). Differences in metabolism likely explain inconsistencies in tumor risk across species (IARC 1995). Humans appear to metabolize TCE in a manner more akin to rats than mice; furthermore, peroxisomal proliferation does not appear to occur in human hepatocytes as opposed to rodent hepatocytes upon TCA exposure (Elcombe 1985, Green 1990). The weight-of-evidence suggests that TCE (including metabolites) may act as a mitogen in rodent liver, causing increased cell proliferation; and that genotoxicity is a minor or nonexistent mode of action (Klaunig et al. 1991, Dees & Travis 1993). The appendix (page 36) summarizes the current state-of-knowledge regarding TCE, DCA, and TCA mechanisms of toxicity. Based on this information, it is difficult to draw conclusions as to the human carcinogenicity of TCE at levels likely to be found in the occupational or general environment. A number of investigators have used toxicokinetic modeling approaches to perform interspecies extrapolations for the purpose of risk assessment of TCE (e.g. Bogen & Gold 1997, Cronin et al. 1995), however, these studies have not explored cellular-level mechanistic considerations.

TCE Toxicokinetics

TCE is metabolized by microsomal P450 enzymes (CYP 2E1) to chloral hydrate (CH) and by cytosolic enzymes to dichloroacetic acid (DCA) and other minor metabolites. CH is then oxidized to trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and trichloroethanol. These metabolites are then subject to further degradation and oxidative/reductive metabolism, as well as glutathione and glucuronide conjugation. Minor intermediate metabolites include possible TCE epoxides, dichlorovinylcysteine (DCVC), dichloroacetyl chloride, chloroform, and DCA. The major metabolic urinary excretion products of TCE across species are TCA and glucuronide-conjugated

trichloroethanol (TCOG), although there are species differences in fractional amounts. Mice show higher rates of biotransformation compared to rats. Additionally, mice appear to metabolize TCA to DCA, which appears as 1-2% of total urinary metabolite; whereas rats produce less DCA. Humans have lower rates of metabolism than mice or rats. DCA has not been detected in appreciable amounts as a human excretion product. TCA and DCA appear to be the metabolites that are most important in terms of mammalian liver toxicity (Daniel 1963, Dekant et al. 1986, Green & Prout 1985, Larson & Bull 1992a,b, Templin et al. 1993).

The earliest published multi compartment physiologically based toxicokinetic (PBTK) models for TCE were relatively simple, first-order models using three to five compartments (Fernandez et al. 1977, Sato et al. 1977, Andersen et al. 1987). The Andersen (1987) model was structurally based on Gargas' generic five-compartment PBPK model (1986), and fit to Fischer 344 rat experimental data. One major goal of that initial work was to describe the overall rate of TCE metabolism. A number of subsequent publications included modifications and applications of this model (Fisher et al. 1989, Fisher et al. 1991, Allen and Fisher 1993, Fisher and Allen, 1993). One such modification extended the model to include simple one-compartment models for the metabolite TCA, in order to track the body burden of this compound. Alternate TCE models were also proposed, such as a four-compartment model (Bogen 1988) with saturable Michaelis-Menten metabolism, which was based on an earlier model for styrene (Ramsey and Andersen 1984).

All TCE models published after 1993 appear to be modifications or extensions of Fisher and Allen's work published in that year. The work by Bogen and Gold (1997) relies on steady-state and pseudo-steady state (for regularly repeated bolus doses such as dietary exposure) solutions to the Fisher-Allen 1993 PBPK model, and demonstrates the application of these solution to cancer risk assessment. This model is advantageous in that it proposes a simplified form of the model that only requires minimal computational effort. However, the assumption of steady state exposure is only applicable to a narrow set of possible exposure scenarios, such as proposed maximum chronic doses. Most authors have taken the opposite approach, expanding the Fisher-Allen model to increase its flexibility. The expansions include work by a number of authors

(Clewell et al. 1994, Clewell et al. 1995, Clewell 1996, Cronin et al. 1995, Fisher 1997). Cronin et al.'s model is essentially identical to the Fisher-Allen 1993 model, although it is unique in terms of the ability to propagate parameter variability by means of Monte Carlo simulation.

Substantial differences exist between the current model forms. Fisher's model, for example, utilizes multiple compartments to model the circulation of each of TCE's metabolites, while Clewell chooses single-compartment models for all metabolites except TCOG. The use of more compartments (i.e., Fisher's model) is likely more realistic, and allows the model greater flexibility in simulating observed data;, however, it requires more computational time which may not be necessary or fully justified by the available amount of data. There are also numerous differences between the models in terms of rate constants, physiologic parameter values, and metabolism pathways. These differences reflect the impact of experimental variation and incomplete knowledge on model development, and are not easy to reconcile. A comparison of predicted concentration vs. time curves between models under a variety of exposure conditions would prove useful for evaluating the impact of these model differences on toxicokinetic outcomes of interest.

Our current efforts are targeted toward linking one of the PBTK models with the MVK model in order to provide dose- and time- dependent estimates of risks posed by TCE metabolites. It may be possible to model the effects of key TCE metabolites and their interactions on cellular initiation and promotion rates in the MVK model. While this information is not currently available, hypothesized models (e.g., constant, linear, quadratic) and interaction effects (e.g., additive, multiplicative) of the impact of metabolite doses could be used, and then tested against existing TCE dose-response data. This exercise should help identify likely mechanisms of TCE carcinogenicity. Continuing efforts will also identify the value of incorporating TCE metabolite mechanistic information into the MVK model. A summary of this information appears in Appendix.

METHODS

Hypothetical Experimental Design

Data are limited regarding oral liver carcinogenicity of TCE. Furthermore, tumor incidence data are not ideal for mechanistic modeling. However, it is still possible to explore mechanistic possibilities using the MVK model for the purpose of hypothesis generation. Therefore, simulation exercises were conducted using the MVK model applied to an existing TCE animal toxicology experiment (NTP 1990). This study followed standard National Toxicology Program lifetime carcinogenicity bioassay protocols. The species of interest was the male B6C3F1 mouse (female mice did not have a strong tumor response in this experiment). The organ of interest was the liver. Hepatocellular carcinoma was the endpoint of interest. Extrapolations to the human species would require integration of toxicokinetic differences, and were not evaluated here.

Model Form

The mathematical and biological bases of the MVK model are well-described elsewhere (Moolgavkar & Luebeck 1990, Heidenreich et al. 1997), and for brevity's sake are not repeated here. A semi-stochastic version of the model was used in which the growth rate of normal cells is assumed to be constant, and the growth rate of altered cells is assumed to be stochastic. Figure 1 is a graphical depiction of the model and basic parameters. The Kolmogorov equation-derived exact solution for piecewise constant parameters was used to calculate the tumor hazard function in a variety of scenarios.

Fitting parameters of the MVK model from experimental data is problematic in that not all biological model parameters can be determined from tumor incidence data. Additional information, such as cell kinetic parameters or locus specific mutation rates often need to be obtained from other sources. However, useful parameterizations can still be constructed using the method of Heidenreich et al. (1996, 1997) or the method of Sherman and Portier (1997), thus addressing this nonidentifiability problem. The method of Heidenreich et al. (1996, 1997) was used here.

Data Sources

Data from the National Toxicology Program (NTP) 2-year TCE carcinogenicity assay (NTP 1990) were used to fit model parameters. Treated animals received doses of 1000 mg/kg TCE by gavage, control animals were given corn oil (vehicle). Exposures started at age 8 weeks. Hepatocellular carcinomas were analyzed here.

For male mice, the control group consisted of 48 animals, with 8 animals developing carcinomas; and the dosed group consisted of 50 animals, with 31 animals developing carcinomas. In an initial analysis, it was assumed that the tumors were either all fatal (i.e. caused immediate death) or all incidental (i.e. did not cause death of the animals) for likelihood constructions. Results obtained for the incidental scenario were in better agreement with experimentally observed locus specific mutation rates (see below). The incidental tumor assumption is also supported by statistical tests provided in the NTP report (NTP 1990).

Model Parameterization

The following parameter combinations were used (see Heidenreich et al. 1996, 1997), due to the parameter nonidentifiability problem mentioned earlier:

Parameter 1: $p_1 = \alpha - \beta - \mu$ Parameter 2: $p_2 = \nu X \mu$ Parameter 3: $p_3 = \alpha \sqrt{\mu / \nu X}$

where:

 α = cell division rate per day

 β = cell death/differentiation rate per day

v = first mutation rate (initiation) per day

X = number of susceptible cells

 μ = second mutation rate (malignant conversion) per day.

Cell division rates can change over time. Therefore, in addition to these parameter combinations, the ratio of cell division rates α_2/α_1 across the change point at, say, time $t_1 = 56$ days is also necessary to calculate the hazard function. This can be determined, at least in principle, from the tumor data. However, preliminary analyses showed that the likelihood was very insensitive to p_3 and to the ratio α_2/α_1 . Therefore, p_3 was fixed at a plausible value (see below) and the ratio of the α s fixed. This choice improved the convergence of the maximum likelihood estimation.

It is reasonable to assume that the second mutation rate μ is very small compared to $\alpha -\beta$; therefore p_1 approximately equals the net cell proliferation, and reflects the chronic promotion rate. Parameter p_2 is the product of the mutation rates, times the number of normal susceptible cells, and reflects the chronic initiation rate. The last parameter, p_3 has no particular biological meaning, but is proportional to the cell division rate α . This parameter is of particular interest for the risk assessment of TCE, which is believed to be mitogenic.

It is assumed that X, the number of normal susceptible cells, equals the total number of hepatocytes in the mouse liver, approximately 10^8 cells (Luebeck et al. 1997). It is further assumed that $v = \mu$, i.e. equality of the first and second mutation rates. Then,

$$p_3 = \alpha / \sqrt{X}$$

Thus, if α is known, then p_3 is known. A labeling index-derived cell division rate is available for hepatocellular foci in B6C3F1 mice (Klaunig 1993). The labeling index for control mice in this experiment (approximately 0.2) was converted into an estimate of α by means of the method of Moolgavkar and Luebeck (1992); thus p_3 was approximated as 3×10^{-6} . This value was used to obtain the maximum-likelihood estimates of model parameters shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1: Maximum-likelihood estimates of MVK model parameters, fit from NTP (1990)

 male B6C3F1 mouse data.

| Parameter* | Estimates | 95% LCL | 95% UCL | |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| p ₂ | 0.5259×10^{-9} | 0.4188×10^{-10} | 0.6600×10^{-8} | |
| <i>p</i> ₁ (c) | 0.2840×10^{-1} | 0.2150×10^{-1} | 0.3751×10^{-1} | |
| <i>p</i> ₁ (d) | 0.3466×10^{-1} | 0.2754×10^{-1} | 0.4362×10^{-1} | |

Male mice, fatal tumor assumption

| Mal | e mice, | incide | ental | tumor | assumpt | tion |
|-----|---------|--------|-------|-------|---------|------|
| | | | | | | |

| Parameter* | Estimates | 95% LCL | 95% UCL |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|
| p ₂ | 0.1950×10^{-5} | 0.1177×10^{-6} | 0.8313×10^{-5} |
| <i>p</i> ₁ (c) | -0.3143×10^{-2} | -0.8543×10^{-2} | 0.2228×10^{-1} |
| <i>p</i> ₁ (d) | 0.5926×10^{-2} | 0.5121×10^{-3} | 0.6852×10^{-1} |

* $p_1(c) = p_1$ in controls, $p_1(d) = p_1$ in dosed animals.

These analyses demonstrate an increase in net cell proliferation. However, it is possible that TCE increases p_2 , and not p_1 .

As mentioned above, the incidental tumor scenario yields plausible estimates of background mutation rates. Because $v = \sqrt{p^2 / X}$,

 $v_{\text{fatal}} = 2.3 \times 10^{-9} \text{ per day}$ $v_{\text{incidental}} = 1.4 \times 10^{-7} \text{ per day}.$

SIMULATIONS

Three sets of simulations were performed. The first examines the sensitivity of the output of the MVK model to different sets of assumptions regarding the values of p_1 and p_2 . The second examines the effect of different experimental design protocols on the ability of the model to distinguish the contribution to tumor hazard made by p_1 vs. p_2 . The third examines the effects on excess risk estimates by different assumptions regarding dose-response in net cell proliferation.

Sensitivity of Model Results to Parameter Assumptions

The effect of changes in chronic initiation rate p_2 (2×, 4×, and 10× the background rate fit from the NTP data) on tumor hazard are shown in Figure 2. An increase of initiation rate of 10× over background results in approximately the same increase in tumor hazard. The effect of changes in chronic promotion rate p_1 , relative to the fitted value for TCE (0.5× and 2× the TCE rate), are shown in Figure 3. A doubling of the promotion rate as fit from the TCE data results in a 1.5 order-of-magnitude increase in tumor hazard at the end of the experiment. Therefore, as can be seen from a comparison of these figures, relatively small changes in the promotion parameter result in larger increases in tumor hazard over the lifetime of animals as compared to increases in initiation rate. Therefore, in a "mixed" promoter/initiator mechanistic scenario, the MVK model indicates that the promotional mechanism may have a larger impact than the initiation mechanism on lifetime risk.



Figure 2: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Values of p_2 (initiation) were assumed to be 0.5×, 1.0×, and 2.0× the background initiation rate of $50[day]^{-1}$, with no changes in chronic promotion rate (p_1) .



Figure 3: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Values of p_1 (promotion) were assumed to be 2×, 4×, and 10× the fitted values from the NTP data (0.005 [day]⁻¹), with no changes in chronic initiation rate (p_2).

A difficulty arises, however, when an attempt is made to evaluate the contribution to total hazard in a mixed-mechanism scenario from the individual components. Figure 4 illustrates this problem. This figure depicts the "individual" contribution to tumor hazard from the parameters fit from the NTP data, from an increase in background initiation rate of 4×, and from the combined mechanisms. It is not possible to differentiate the relative contribution to hazard from the components. Statistical tests were not employed here since hypothetical rather than databased changes in parameters were made.



Figure 4: Sensitivity of tumor hazard to varying model parameters. Independent contribution to tumor hazard from fitted values of p_1 (promotion) and p_2 (initiation) fit from the NTP data are plotted. Additionally, tumor hazard that is associated with the joint effect of the fitted value of p_1 and 4X the fitted value of p_2 are plotted. Note that it is difficult to separate independent initiation and promotion effects.

Effect of Different Experimental Designs

In order to examine the effect of changes in experimental design on the ability of the model to discriminate mechanisms, Monte Carlo simulation was used to generate 1000 experiments within a particular design. The designs are summarized as:

1) n=50 each-group (control and dosed), time of sacrifice=365 to 730 days (standard NTP design),

2) n=50 each group (control and dosed), time of sacrifice=56 to 500 days,

3) n=100 each group (control and dosed), time of sacrifice=56 to 500 days.

Sacrifice time points were generated by uniform random deviates in the respective time intervals. Parameters of the model were fit as described earlier; p_1 and p_2 were fit using maximumlikelihood estimation, and p_3 was calculated from published data.

Pearson correlation coefficients (r) were calculated between p_1 as an indication of promotional action, and p_2 as an indication of initiating action. As can be seen in Table 2a, a high degree of correlation is demonstrated between estimates of p_1 (promotion) and p_2 (initiation) based on 1000 Monte Carlo simulations of the experiment under the standard NTP design.

TABLE 2: Correlation coefficient matrices for parameters of the MVK model; calculated under different experimental design assumptions using the NTP (1990) male B6C3F1 mouse data (High correlation coefficients indicate the inability of the model to discriminate between parameters)

| | p_1 (control) | p_1 (dosed) | p_2 (control) | p_2 (dosed) |
|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|
| p_i (control) | 1.00 | 0.88 | -0.91 | -0.93 |
| p_1 (dosed) | 0.88 | 1.00 | -0.88 | -0.89 |
| p_2 (control) | -0.91 | -0.88 | 1.00 | 0.93 |
| p_2 (dosed) | -0.93 | -0.89 | 0.93 | 1.00 |

a) n=50, time of sacrifice=365 to 730 days

| | p_1 (control) | p_1 (dosed) | p_2 (control) | p_2 (dosed) |
|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|
| p_1 (control) | 1.00 | 0.59 | -0.69 | -0.67 |
| p_1 (dosed) | 0.59 | 1.00 | -0.68 | -0.81 |
| p_2 (control) | -0.69 | -0.68 | 1.00 | 0.66 |
| p_2 (dosed) | -0.67 | -0.81 | 0.66 | 1.00 |

c) n=100, time of sacrifice=56 to 500 days

| | p_1 (control) | p_1 (dosed) | p_2 (control) | p_2 (dosed) | | | | |
|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|--|--|--|--|
| p_1 (control) | 1.00 | 0.77 | -0.78 | -0.85 | | | | |
| p_1 (dosed) | 0.77 | 1.00 | -0.81 | -0.87 | | | | |
| p_2 (control) | -0.78 | -0.81 | 1.00 | 0.79 | | | | |
| p_2 (dosed) | -0.85 | -0.87 | 0.79 | 1.00 | | | | |

Discrimination between the individual mechanisms is improved by increasing the time over which interim sacrifices are performed, as in Table 2b. The correlations are reduced appreciably due to information available at earlier time points when the differential behavior of the initiator and the promotor is more pronounced. The correlations increase again if the number of experimental animals is increased, as in Table 2c.

Model Misspecifications using Dose-Response Assumptions

This analysis explored the effects of model misspecification on excess risk estimates. Since detailed dose-response information was not available for the oral route of exposure, tumor incidence data were simulated in hypothetical experiments that involved 4 dose groups of animals with 200 animals in each group, where doses are defined as divisions of the NTP dose (1000 mg/kg/d over lifetime) as a reference. All doses were assumed to start on day 56. Early deaths (other than tumor related) and sacrifices were assumed to be randomly distributed between 365 and 730 days. Tumors were assumed to be incidental. Assumed doses were:

1) controls (0 mg/kg/d)

2) low dose (10 mg/kg/d)

3) medium dose (100 mg/kg/d)

4) high dose (500 mg/kg/d)

The generalized model parameterization for the data generation was assumed to be as follows:

 $p_1 = \delta_0 + \delta_1 \mathbf{D} + \delta_2 \mathbf{D}^2$

where:

 $\delta_0 = 0$ [i.e. no net cell proliferation in controls]

 δ_1 , $\delta_2 = 0.02$

D = dose

Additionally, the following were set according to the previous analysis:

 $\alpha = 0.03$ [fixed]

 $p_2 = 5.0 \times 10^{-6}$ [set at an equivalent level regardless of dose; i.e. no dose-response in mutation rates].

The value of 0.02 for δ_1 and δ_2 was obtained by assuming a quadratic function and adjusting the net cell proliferation rate (p_1 for treated male mice, incidental tumors) to reflect a maximum dose of 500 mg/kg/d, and to reflect the tumor incidence seen at 1000 mg/kg/d in the NTP experiment.

Note that the value of p_2 chosen reflects the results of a high-dose experiment; thus may overestimate the possible initiation rate at lower doses.

Under these assumptions 1000 experiments were generated using Monte Carlo simulation with observations at time points that represent sacrifices or times of death from other causes as described above. Hypothetical incidental tumors were sampled directly from the probability of tumor. The generated incidence time is the time to the appearance of the first malignant cell in the tissue (according to the MVK model). That time is then compared with the random time for death (sacrifice or death from other causes) and the status of the animal as tumor bearing or not tumor bearing is determined according to whether the incidence time is smaller or larger the time of death. Each experiment was analyzed using likelihood maximization, with 3 different model parameterizations:

Model A: quadratic dose-response in net cell proliferation ("correct" underlying model as defined)

 $p_{1A} = \delta_0 + \delta_1 \times 0 + \delta_2 D^2$

Model B: linear dose-response in net cell proliferation

$$p_{1B} = \delta_0 + \delta_1 D + \delta_2 \times 0$$

Model C: linear-quadratic dose-response in net cell proliferation

 $p_{1C} = \delta_0 + \delta_1 D + \delta_2 D^2$

Thus, Model A is correct, Model B is misspecified, and Model C is "overspecified" in terms of describing the simulated dose-response relationship in a parsimonious manner.

Table 3 presents the parameter estimation results under the simulated dose-response model assumptions. The parameter medians obtained from Model A closely coincide with the "true" values used for the underlying model, which provides a reliability check for the simulation. However, the considerable variance and skewness of the distributions obtained for δ_0 and δ_2 indicate that a wide variety of biologically implausible numerical combinations are possible. This is also observed for Model B. For Model C more symmetric distributions for δ_1 and δ_2 were obtained, although δ_0 is still highly asymmetric. Excess risks (probability of tumor in treated animals minus probability of tumor in control animals at 1.0 mg/kg/d) associated with the three

models are represented in Figure 5, where it can be seen that the median excess risk as estimated by the linear model (Model B) is overestimated by approximately 3 orders of magnitude relative to the median excess risk estimated by the quadratic model (Model A). Negative values evident in Figure 5 (Model C) are the result of the large variance of δs .

| TABLE 3: | Simulated MVI | K model | parameter | values 1 | under | different | net cell | proliferation |
|--------------|------------------|----------|------------|----------|-------|-----------|----------|---------------|
| dose-respons | e assumptions. | Model | A incorpor | ates the | defin | ed hypot | hetical | dose-response |
| function. M | odels B and C ar | e misspe | cified. | | | | | |

| | δ_0 | δ_1 | δ_2 | p ₂ |
|---------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Model A (quadratic) | | | | |
| Mean | -9.0×10 ⁻⁴ | NA | 2.2×10 ⁻² | 6.3×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Error | 2.5×10 ⁻⁴ | NA | 6.2×10 ⁻⁴ | 3.0×10 ⁺⁰ |
| Median | -1.7×10 ⁻⁵ | NA | 2.0×10 ⁻² | 4.9×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Deviation | 5.3×10 ⁻³ | NA | 1.3×10 ⁻² | 6.4×10 ⁺¹ |
| Sample Variance | 2.8×10 ⁻⁵ | NA | 1.7×10 ⁻⁴ | 4.0×10 ⁺³ |
| Skewness | -5.0×10 ⁺⁰ | NA | 6.4×10 ⁺⁰ | 6.7×10 ⁺⁰ |
| Model B (linear) | | | | |
| Mean | -9.8×10 ⁻⁴ | 1.2×10 ⁻² | ŇA | 6.0×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Error | 2.5×10 ⁻⁴ | 3.2×10 ⁻⁴ | NA | 2.7×10 ⁺⁰ |
| Median | 8.9×10 ⁻⁵ | 1.0×10 ⁻² | NA | 4.7×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Deviation | 5.3×10 ⁻³ | 6.7×10 ⁻³ | NA | 5.7×10 ⁺¹ |
| Sample Variance | 2.8×10 ⁻⁵ | 4.5×10 ⁻⁵ | NA | 3.2×10 ⁺³ |
| Skewness | -4.4×10 ⁺⁰ | 5.8×10 ⁺⁰ | NA | 5.3×10 ⁺⁰ |
| Model C (linear- | | | | |
| quadratic) | | | | |
| Mean | -8.2×10 ⁻⁴ | -1.1×10 ⁻³ | 2.5×10 ⁻² | 6.1×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Error | 2.1×10 ⁻⁴ | 1.4×10 ⁻³ | 2.8×10 ⁻³ | 2.3×10 ⁺⁰ |
| Median | 4.1×10 ⁻⁵ | 6.9×10 ⁻⁴ | 2.0×10 ⁻² | 4.9×10 ⁺¹ |
| Standard Deviation | 4.0×10 ⁻³ | 2.7×10 ⁻² | 5.3×10 ⁻² | 4.4×10 ⁺¹ |
| Sample Variance | 1.6×10 ⁻⁵ | 7.5×10 ⁻⁴ | 2.8×10 ⁻³ | 1.9×10 ⁺³ |
| Skewness | -1.5×10 ⁺⁰ | -5.8×10 ⁻¹ | 1.1×10 ⁺⁰ | 2.3×10 ⁺⁰ |

NA= not applicable



Figure 5b: Model B - Net Cell Proliferation Modeled as Linear





Figure 5c: Model C - Net Cell Proliferation Modeled as Linear-Quadratic

Figure 5: Simulated excess risk for TCE dose of 1 mg/kg/d (underlying model assumption = quadratic dose-response in net cell proliferation).

DISCUSSION

There are limitations on the interpretation of the results of this study that illustrate the difficulties involved with mechanistic modeling of carcinogens. The model was not fit to the results of an experiment designed for elucidation of mechanisms; rather, a combination of previously published data was used. As such, the results should be interpreted as an exploratory exercise, rather than a risk assessment.

Effects such as stimulation of cell proliferation and cell killing were not addressed here. The model results reflect tumor hazard in experimental mice, and numerous extrapolations with a great deal of associated uncertainty (including toxicokinetics) would be necessary to evaluate human risks. The model was not able to discriminate well between the respective contribution to tumor risk from initiating vs. promoting activity using standard published data applied to a chronic exposure scenario. It is clear that the majority of information available from typical

experimental designs is not adequate for mechanistic modeling. Experiments have been performed where preneoplastic liver foci have been quantified (Luebeck et al. 1995, Moolgavkar et al. 1996); it is expected that this type of information will be valuable for mechanistic modeling of TCE and its metabolites. Increasing the number of early sacrifices in experiments may also improve this information.

The results for the incidental analysis of the NTP data for TCE-induced tumors were compatible with the results in a similar study of tetrachloroethylene (Luebeck et al. 1997), which may have similar carcinogenic mechanisms as TCE. The MVK model did not appear to discriminate as to the relative importance of initiating or promoting activity when the TCE data were analyzed, although an analysis (not shown here) that assumed "pure" initiation did not yield plausible values for parameters (statistical tests were not employed here since the changes in parameter values were hypothetical). However, the data still provide useful mechanistic information if considered together with plausible biological information. For instance, the analysis that assumed incidental tumors yielded a mutation rate that was consistent with experimental values. Also, the incidental scenario is consistent with negative or zero net growth of intermediate lesions when not "promoted". The net cell proliferation rate can be assumed to be zero for the background, but seems to be elevated for exposed animals. It is not clear from the analysis whether this increase is due to an increase in α or a decrease in β , although the former is perhaps more biologically plausible. This information, considered along with other studies (Klaunig et al. 1991, Dees & Travis 1993), implicate a mitogenic mechanism in TCE carcinogenicity. Promotion as a result of TCE exposure may be a more important contributor to tumor hazard than genotoxicity over a lifetime of chronic exposure.

The results of the model misspecification simulation exercise suggest that it is difficult to reliably discern the underlying biological dose-response relationship (specified here as a quadratic threshold in the net cell proliferation) even at a relatively large sample size (800 animals). Note, however, that we assumed that the tumors were incidental; thus time-to-tumor information was not available, which reduces the potential available information.

A comparison of the excess risk values generated by the different models also reveals a strong dependence on the assumed mechanism. If a threshold or quadratic cell proliferation dose-response is appropriate for TCE, then only the explicit incorporation of this behavior into the dose-response function will reliably represent the excess risk at low doses. Our results also show that a linear-quadratic model fails to provide an unbiased estimate of the excess risk at low doses. The distribution is skewed toward the left, possibly allowing for negative excess risks (protective effects) for which there are minimal biological evidence. The linear model is grossly misspecified, and overpredicts the risk (as predicted by the correct underlying quadratic model) by approximately 3 orders of magnitude. Therefore, if TCE exhibits threshold behavior in cell proliferation at low doses, the use of a linear dose-response model will overpredict risks.

In summary:

- This simulation exercise demonstrates the range of uncertainties that result from different model assumptions applied to rodent toxicity data and demonstrates critical data needs.
- Promotion may be a more important contributor to tumor hazard than genotoxicity over a lifetime of chronic exposure in mice. In these simulations, a doubling of initiation rate resulted in a 5-fold increase in tumor hazard at day 730, whereas a doubling in promotion rate resulted in a 15-fold increase in tumor hazard at day 730.
- The MVK 2-mutation model fit to TCE data is highly sensitive to net cell proliferation rate (α-β).
- The model was not able to discriminate well between the respective contribution to tumor risk from initiating vs. promoting action using standard published rodent data applied to a chronic exposure scenario.
- Improvements in discrimination resulted from simulating early sacrifices (56-500 days), as indicated by decreased correlation coefficients between initiation and promotion parameters.
- Use of a linear model results in implausible parameter fits and overestimates of risk (~3 orders of magnitude at the median) if the true dose-response relationship in cell proliferation is quadratic.

• Reductions in uncertainty would likely result from collection of intermediate foci data and other mechanistic information, as well as incorporating toxicokinetic and metabolite toxicity information into the TCE model.

REFERENCES

- Allen, B.C., Fisher, J.W., "Pharmacokinetic Modeling of Trichloroethylene and Trichloroacetic Acid in Humans," *Risk Anal.* 13: 71-86.
- Andersen, M.E., Krewski, D., Withey, J.R., 1993, "Physiological Pharmacokinetics and Cancer Risk Assessment," Cancer Lett. 69, 1-14.
- Andersen, M.E., Gargas, M.L, Clewell, H.J., Severyn, K.M., 1987, "Quantitative Evaluation of the Metabolic Interaction Between Trichloroethylene and 1,1-Dichloroethylene In Vivo Using Gas Uptake Methods," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 95: 149-157.
- Anna, C.H., Maronpot, R.R., Pereira, M.A., et al., 1994, "Ras Proto-Oncogene Activation in Dichloroacetic Acid-, Trichloroethylene-, and Tetrachloroethylene-Induced Liver Tumors in B6C3F1 Mice," Carcinogenesis 15, 2255-2261.
- Armitage, P., Doll, R, 1957, "A Two-Stage Theory of Carcinogenesis in Relation to the Age Distribution of Human Cancer," Br. J. Cancer 11:161-169.
- Bogen, K.T., 1988, "Pharmacokinetics for Regulatory Risk Analysis: The Case of Trichloroethylene," Reg. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 8: 447-466.
- Bogen, K.T., Gold, L.S., 1997, "Trichloroethylene Cancer Risk: Simplified Calculation of PBPK-Based MCLs for Cytotoxic End Points," *Reg. Toxicol. & Pharmacol.* 25: 26-42.
- Bull, R.J., Sanchez, I., Nelson, M.A., et al., 1990, "Tumor Induction in B6C3F1 Mice by Dichloroacetate and Trichloroacetate," *Toxicology* 63, 341-359.
- Bull, R.J., Templin, M., Larson, J.L., Stevens, D.K., 1993, "The Role of Dichloroacetate in the Hepatocarcinogenicity of Trichloroethylene," *Toxicol. Lett.* 68: 203-211.
- Byers, V.S., Levin, A.S., Ozonoff, D.M., et al. 1988, "Association Between Clinical Symptoms and Lymphocyte Abnormalities in a Population with Chronic Domestic Exposures to Industrial Solvent Contaminated Domestic Water Supply and a High Incidence of Leukemia," *Cancer Imuunol. Immunother.* 27:77-81.

- Carter, J.H., Carter, H.W., DeAngelo, A.B., 1995, "Biochemical, Pathologic, and Morphometric Alterations Induced in Male B6C3F1 Mouse Liver by Short-Term Exposure to Dichloroacetic Acid," *Toxicol. Lett.* 81: 55-71.
- Chang, L.W., Daniel, F.B., DeAngelo, A.B., 1992, "Analysis of DNA Strand Breaks Induced in Rodent Liver In Vivo, Hepatocytes in Primary Culture, and a Human Cell Line by Chlorinated Acetic Acids and Chlorinated Acetaldehydes," Environ. Molec. Mutagen. 20, 277-288.
- Channel, S.R., Hancock, B.L, 1993, "Application of Kinetic Models to Estimate Transit Time Through Cell Cycle Compartments," *Toxicol. Lett.* **68:**213-221.
- Clewell, H.J., Gearhart, J.M., Covington, T.R., Gentry, P.R., 1996, Investigation of the Potential Impact of Benchmark Dose and Pharmacokinetic Modeling on Minimal Risk Levels, KS Crump Division, ICF Kaiser International, report repared for ATSDR under contract with Eastern Research Group Inc., February 9, Ruston, LA.
- Clewell, H.J., Gentry, P.R., Gearhart, J.M., Allen, B.C., Andersen, M.E., 1995, "Considering Pharmacokinetic and Mechanistic Information in Cancer Risk Assessments for Environmental Contaminants: Examples with Vinyl Chloride and Trichloroethylene," *Chemosphere* 31: 2561-2578.
- Crebelli, R., Carere, A., 1989, "Genetic Toxiclogy of 1,1,2-Trichloroethylene," *Mutat. Res.* **221**:11-37.
- Cronin, W.J., Oswald, E.J., Shelley, M.L., Fisher, J.W., Flemming, C.D., 1995, "A Trichloroethylene Risk Assessment Using a Monte Carlo Analysis of Parameter Uncertainty in Conjunction with Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling," *Risk Analysis* 15, 555-566.
- Cronin, W.J., Oswald, E.J., Shelley, M.L., Fisher, J.W., Flemming, C.D., 1995, "A
 Trichloroethylene Risk Assessment Using a Monte Carlo Analysis of Parameter
 Uncertainty in Conjunction with Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling," *Risk* Analysis 15, 555-566.

- Crump, K.S., 1980, "An Improved Procedure for Low-Dose Carcinogenic Risk Assessment from Animal Data," J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. 5:675-684.
- Crump, K.S., 1980, "An Improved Procedure for Low-Dose Carcinogenic Risk Assessment from Animal Data," J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. 5:675-684.
- Daniel, F.B., DeAngelo, A.B., Stober, J.A., et al., 1992, "Hepatocarcinogenicity of Chloral Hydrate, 2-Chloroacetaldehyde, and Dichloroacetic Acid in the Male B6C3F1 Mouse," *Fund. Appl. Toxicol.* 19, 159-168.
- DeAngelo, A.B., Daniel, F.B., McMillan, L., et al., 1989, "Species and Strain Sensitivity to the Induction of Peroxisome Proliferation by Chloroacetic Acids, *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 101, 285-298.
- DeAngelo, A.B., Daniel, F.B., Stober, J.A., Olson, G.R., 1991, "The Carcinogenicity of Dichloroacetic Acid in the Male B6C3F1 Mouse," *Fund. Appl. Toxicol.* 16, 337-347.
- Dees, C., Travis, C., 1993, "The Mitogenic Potential of Trichloroethylene in B6C3F1 Mice," *Toxicol. Lett.* **69**, 129-137.
- Dees, C., Travis, C., 1993, "The Mitogenic Potential of Trichloroethylene in B6C3F1 Mice," *Toxicol. Lett.* **69**, 129-137.
- Dees, C., Travis, C., 1994, "Trichloroacetate Stimulation of DNA Synthesis in Male and Female Mice," *Toxicol. Lett.* **70**:343-355.
- Dekant, W., Shultz, A., Metzler, M, Henschler, D., 1986, "Absorption, Elimination, and Metabolism of Trichloroethylene: A Quantitative Comparison Between Rats and Mice," *Xenobiotica* 16: 143-152.
- Elcombe, C.R., 1985, "Species Differences in Carcinogenicity and Peroxisome Proliferation Due to Trichloroethylene: A Biochemical Human Hazard Assessment," Arch. Toxicol. 8 (suppl):6-17.
- Elcombe, C.R., 1985, "Species Differences in Carcinogenicity and Peroxisome Proliferation Due to Trichloroethylene: A Biochemical Human Hazard Assessment," Arch. Toxicol. 8 (suppl):6-17.

- Elcombe, C.R., Rose, M.S., Pratt, I.S., 1985, "Biochemical, Histological, and Ultrastructural Changes in Rat and Mouse Liver Following the Administration of Trichloroethylene: Possible Relevencxe to Species Differences in Hepatocarcinogenicity," Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 79:365-376.
- Fahrig, R., Madle, S., Baumann, H., 1995, "Genetic Toxicology of Trichloroethylene," *Mutat. Res.* **340:**1-36.
- Fernandez, J.G., Droz, P.O., Humbert, B.E., Caperos, J.R., 1977, "Trichloroethylene Exposure Simulation of Uptake, Excretion, and Metabolism Using a Mathematical Model," Br. J. Ind. Med. 34: 43-55.
- Ferreira-Gonzales, A., DeAngelo, A.B., Nasim, S., Garrett, C.T., 1995, Ras Oncogene Activation During Hepatocarcinogenesis in B6C3F1 Mice by dichloroacetic Acid and Trichloroacetic Acid," Carcinogenesis 16:494-500.
- Fisher J.W., 1997, Personal communication (unpublished source code).
- Fisher, J.W., Allen, B.C., 1993, "Evaluating the Risk of Liver Cancer in Humans Exposed to Trichloroethylene Using Physiological Models," *Risk Anal.* 13:87-95.
- Fisher, J.W., Gargas, M.L., Allen, B.C., Andersen, M.E., 1991, "Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling with Trichloroethylene and Its Metabolite Trichloroacetic Acid in the Rat and Mouse," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 109: 183-195.
- Fisher, J.W., Whittaker, T.A., Taylor, D.H., Clewell, H.J., Andersen, M.E., 1989,
 "Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling of the Pregnant Rat: A Multiroute
 Exposure Model for Trichloroethylene and its Metabolite, Trichloroacetic Acid," *Toxicol.*Appl. Pharmacol. 99: 395-414.
- Fisher, J.W., Whittaker, T.A., Taylor, D.H., et al., 1989, "Physiologically Based
 Pharmacokinetic Modeling of the Pregnant Rat: A Multiroute Exposure Model for
 Trichloroethylene and Its Metabolite Trichloroacetic Acid," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*99:395-414.

- Fuscoe, J.C., Alfshari, A.J., George, M.H., et al., 1996, "In Vivo Genotoxicity of Dichloroacetic Acid: Evaluation with the Mouse Peripheral Blood Micronucleus Assay and the Single Cell Gel Assay," Env. Molec. Mutagen. 27:1-9.
- Gargas, M.L., Clewell, H.J., Andersen, M.E., 1986, "Metabolism of Inhaled Dihalomethanes In
 Vivo: Differentiation of Kinetic Constants for Two Independent Pathways," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 82: 211.
- Goldsworthy, T.L., Popp, J.A., 1987, "Chlorinated Hydrocarbon-Induced Peroxisomal Enzyme Activity in Relation to Species and Organ Carcinogenicity," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 88, 225-233.
- Green, T., 1990, "Species Differences in Carcinogenicity: The Role of Metabolism in Human Risk Evaluation," *Terato. Carcino. Mutagen.* **10**:103-113.
- Green, T., 1990, "Species Differences in Carcinogenicity: The Role of Metabolism in Human Risk Evaluation," *Terato. Carcino. Mutagen.* **10**:103-113.
- Green, T., Prout, M.S., 1985, "Species Differences in Response to Trichloroethylene," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **79**:389-411.
- Heidenreich, WF, 1996, "On the Parameters of the Clonal Expansion Model," Radiat. Environ. Biophys., 35:127-129.
- Heidenreich, WF, Luebeck, EG, Moolgavkar, SH, 1997, "Some Properties of the Hazard Function of the Two-Mutation Clonal Expansion Model," *Risk Analysis* 17:391-399.
- Herren-Freund, et al., 1987, "Carcinogenicity of Trichloroethylene and Its Metabolites, Trichloroacetic Acid and Dichloroacetic Acid, in Mouse Liver," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **90**, 183-189.
- IARC, 1995, IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Dry Cleaning, Some Chlorinated Solvents and Other Industrial Chemicals, Vol. 63, Lyon, France.

- IARC, 1995, IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Dry Cleaning, Some Chlorinated Solvents and Other Industrial Chemicals, Vol. 63, Lyon, France.
- Klaunig, J.E., Ruch, R.J., Lin, E.L., 1989, "Effects of Trichloroethylene and its Metabolites on Rodent Hepatocyte Intercellular Communication," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 99:454-465.
- Klaunig, JE, 1993, "Selective Induction of DNA Synthesis in Mouse Preneoplastic and Neoplastic Hepatic Lesions after Exposure to Phenobarbital," *Environ. Health. Persp.* 101 (Supp. 5): 235-240.
- Klaunig, JE, Siglin, JC, Schafer, LD et al., 1991, "Correlation between Species and Tissue Sensitivity to Chemical Carcinogenesis in Rodents and the Induction of DNA Synthesis," *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 369:185-194.
- Klaunig, JE, Siglin, JC, Schafer, LD et al., 1991, "Correlation between Species and Tissue Sensitivity to Chemical Carcinogenesis in Rodents and the Induction of DNA Synthesis," *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 369:185-194.
- Kopp-Schneider, A., Portier, C.J., 1991, "Distinguishing Between Models of Carcinogenesis: The Role of Clonal Expansion," *Fund. Appl. Toxicol.* **17**:601-613.
- Laib, R.J., Stockle, G., Bolt, H.M. et al., 1979, "Vinyl Chloride and Trichlorethylene: Comparison of Alkylating Effects of Metabolites and Induction of Preneoplastic Enzyme Deficiencies in Rat Liver," J. Canc. Res. Clin. Oncol. 94, 139-147.
- Larson, J.L., Bull, R.J., 1992a, "Metabolism and Lipoperoxidative Activity of Trichloroacetate and Dichloroacetate in Rats and Mice," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **115**: 268-277.
- Larson, J.L., Bull, R.J., 1992b, "Species Differences in the Metabolism of Trichloroethylene to the Carcinogenic Metabolites Trichloroacetate and Dichloroacetate," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 115: 278-285.
- Lee, R.C., Luebeck, E.G., Faustman, E.M., 1997, Impact of Assumptions Regarding Possible Carcinogenic Mechanisms of Trichloroethylene. Phase I Final Report: Evaluation of

Uncertainty Associated with Use of National Toxicology Program Data, work performed under United States Air Force and GeoCenters Contract N00014-95-D-0048, D.O. 0003 and Subcontract GC-2994-03-96-004.

- Luebeck, EG, Grasl-Kraupp, B, Timmermann-Trosiener, I, et al., 1995, "Growth Kinetics of Enzyme-Altered Liver Foci in Rats Treated with Phenobarbital or a-Hexachlorocyclohexane," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **130**: 304-315.
- Luebeck, EG, Travis, CC, Watanabe, K, 1997, "Informative Case Studies," in NATO/CCMS Pilot Study Report on Dose-Response Analysis and Biologically-Based Risk Assessment for Initiator and Promoter Carcinogens, V.J. Cogliano, E.G. Luebeck, G.A. Zapponi: editors (in press).
- Maltoni, C. Lefemine, G., Cotti, G., et al., 1988, "Long-term Carcinogenicity Bioassays on Trichloroethylene Administered by Inhalation to Sprague-Dawley Rats and Swiss and B6C3F1 Mice," Ann NY Acad. Sci. 534, 316-342.
- Maltoni, C., Lefemine, G., Cotti, G., 1986, "Experimental Research on Trichloroethylene Carcinogenesis," in: <u>Archives of Research on Industrial Carcinogenesis Series</u>, Vol. V., Princeton Sci. Pub., Princeton, NJ.
- Moolgavkar, S.H., Luebeck, E.G., 1990, "Two-Event Model for Carcinogenesis: Biological, Mathematical, and Statistical Considerations," *Risk Analysis* 10: 323-341.
- Moolgavkar, SH, Luebeck, EG, 1990, "Two-Event Model for Carcinogenesis: Biological, Mathematical, and Statistical Considerations," *Risk Analysis* **10**: 323-341.
- Moolgavkar, SH, Luebeck, EG, 1992, "Interpretation of Labeling Indices in the Presence of Cell Death," *Carcinogenesis* 13:1007-1010.
- Moolgavkar, SH, Luebeck, EG, Buchmann, A, Bock, KW, 1996, "Quantitative Analysis of Enzyme-Altered Liver Foci in Rats Initiated with Dietylnitrosamine and Promoted with 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin or 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* (in press)

- Nelson, M.A., Bull, R.J., 1989, "Induction of Strand Breaks in DNA by Trichloroethylene and Metabolites in Rat and Mouse Liver in Vivo," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 94: 45-54.
- Nelson, M.A., Sanchez, I.M., Bull, R.J., Sylvester, S.R., 1990, "Increased Expression of c-myc and c-Hras in Dichloroacetate and Trichloroacetate-Induced Tumors in B6C3F1 Mice," *Toxicol.* 64:47-57.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program), 1988, Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Trichloroethylene in Four Strains of Rats, Technical Report Series No. 273, NIH pub. no. 88-2525, NIH, RTP, NC.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program), 1990, Carcinogenesis Studies of Trichloroethylene (Without Epichlorohydrinin) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F1 Mice, Technical Report Series No. 243, NIH pub. no. 90-1799, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program), 1990, Carcinogenesis Studies of Trichloroethylene (Without Epichlorohydrinin) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F1 Mice, Technical Report Series No. 243, NIH pub. no. 90-1799, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.
- Okino, T., Nakajima, T, Nakano, M., 1991, "Morphological and Biochemical Analyses of Trichloroethylene Hepatoxicity: Differences in Ethanol- and Phenobarbital-Pretreated Rats," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 108:379-389.
- Pereira, M.A., 1996, "Carcinogenic Activity of Dichloroacetic Acid and Trichloroacetic Acid in the Liver of Female B6C3F1 Mice," *Fund. & Appl. Toxicol.* 31:192-199.
- Pereira, M.A., Phelps, J.B., 1996, "Promotion by Dichloroacetic Acid and Trichloroacetic Acid of N-Methyl-N-Nitrosurea-Initiated Cancer in the Liver of Female B6C3F1 Mice," Canc. Lett. 102: 133-141.
- Portier, C.J., Edler, L., 1990, "Two-Stage Models of Carcinogenesis, Classification of Agents, and Design of Experiments," *Fund. Appl. Toxicol.* 14:444-460.

- Ramsey, J.C., Andersen, M.E., 1984, " A Physiologically Based Description of the Inhaled Pharmacokinetics of Styrene Monomer in Rats and Humans," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 73:159-175.
- Ramsey, J.C., Anderson, M.E., 1984, "A Physiologically Based Description of the Inhalation Pharmacokinetics of Styrene in Rats and Humans," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 73: 159-175.
- Richmond, R.E., DeAngelo, A.B., Potter, C.L., Daniel, F.B., 1991, "The Role of Hyperplastic Nodules in Dichloroacetic Acid-Induced Hepatocarcinogenesis in B6C3F1 Male Mice," *Carcinogenesis* 12, 1383-1387.
- Sanchez, I.M., Bull, R.J., 1990, "Early Induction of Reparative Hyperplasia in the Liver of B6C3F1 Mice Treated with Dichloroacetate and Trichloroacetate," *Toxicol.* **64**:33-46.
- Sato, A., Nakajima, T., Fujiwara, Y., Murayama, N., 1977, "A Pharmacokinetic Model to Study the Excretion of Trichloroethylene and its Metabolites After an Inhalation Exposure," Br. J. Ind. Med. 34: 56-63.
- Sherman, C.D., Portier, C.J., 1997, "The Two-Stage Model of Carcinogenesis: Overcoming the Nonidentifiability Dilemma," *Risk Analysis* 17:367-374.
- Snyder, R.D., Pullman, J., Carter, J.H., et al., 1995, "In Vivo Administration of Dichloroacetic Acid Suppresses Spontaneous Apoptosis in Murine Hepatocytes," Canc. Res. 55:3702-3705.
- Stott, W.T., Quast, J.F., Watanabe, P.G., 1982, "Pharmacokinetics and Macromolecular Interactions of Trichloroethylene in Mice and Rats," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 62, 137-151.
- Templin, M.V., Stevens, D.K., Stenner, R.D., et al., 1995, "Factors Affecting Species Differences in the Kinetics of Metabolites of Trichloroethylene," J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 44: 435-447.

 Tsai, W.H., DeAngelo, A.B., 1996, "Responsiveness of Hepatocytes from Dichloroacetic Acid or Phenobarbital Treated Mice to Growth Factors in Primary Culture," *Canc. Lett.*99:17-183. THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

APPENDIX

MECHANISTIC STUDIES OF TCE AND METABOLITE LIVER CARCINOGENICITY

Appendix: Mechanistic studies of TCE and metabolite liver carcinogenicity (Note: only original studies examining toxicology mechanisms are included, except for genotoxicity reviews)

~

| | | | Exposure | 1 | | | | |
|--------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------|---------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| Study ¹ | Chemicals ² | Species ³ | Route ⁴ | Doses ⁵ | Ν | Time | Endpoints ⁶ | Findings ⁷ |
| Anna | TCE, DCA, PCE | B6C3F1 m mice, | TCE, PCE- | Controls, | TCE-110, | 76 weeks | Liver tumors, | Increased liver tumors in treated animals, no |
| 1994 | | Athymic m nude | COG | TCE- 800, | PCE- 160, | | H-ras and K-ras | sig. increase in H-ras activation with TCE, |
| | | mice | DCA- DW | PCE-1700, | DCA- 110, | | mutation | DCA, sig. decrease in H-ras and numerical |
| | | | | DCA- 5000, | Controls- 50 | | | increase in K-ras mutations with PCE |
| Bull 1990 | TCA, DCA | B6C3F1 m & f | MQ | Control, | 5 to 24 per | 15 to 52 | Liver tumors, | Males: Sig. dose-related increases in tumors, |
| | | mice | | 1000, | treatment | weeks | histopathology | hockey stick DR w/DCA, linear DR w/TCA, |
| | | | | 2000, | period | | | increased liver weights, early hepatomegaly |
| | | | | Phenobarb- | | | | and cytomegaly w/DCA, increased lipofuscin |
| | | | ~~~ | nnc | | | | W/LCA Females: No tumors increased liver weights |
| Carter | DCA | R6C3F1 m mice | MCI | Control | 5 ner sacrifice | 0 to 15 days | Liver | Sig increased liver weights after 10 days (due |
| 1995 | | | : | 500. | period per | a fun ar ar a | histonathology. | to hypertronhy). SA and I.I. signation during the |
| 2 | | | | 5000 | treatment group | | SA. LI | dosed groups initially, then transient increase |
| | | | | | ,) | | | in SA, continued reduction in LI, no sig. |
| | | | | | | | | differences at 30 days; hepatocyte glycogen |
| | | | | | | | | incorporation, cytotoxicity observed |
| Chang | TCA, DCA, CH, | B6C3F1 m mice, | DW, direct | Control | 4 per per | 7 days to 30 | DNA strand | None of tested compounds sig. increased DNA |
| 1992 | (also other | Fischer 344 m rats, | application to | DCA: | sacrifice period | weeks | breaks, | strand breaks in rodent liver or human |
| | chlorinated | cultured mouse and | cell cultures | 500, | per treatment | | peroxisomal | lymphoblasts. DCA increased peroxisomal |
| | compounds) | rat hepatocytes, | | 5000; | group | | enzyme activity | proliferation @ 5000 mg/L. |
| | | human CCRF-CEM | | TCA: | | | | |
| | | Iymphobasts | | 500 500 | | | | |
| | | | | 000 | | | | |
| Channel | TCA | WB344 hepatocyte | Direct | 100 mg/ml | NA | 100 hr | Cell cycle | TCA slightly prolonged S phase, reversible |
| 1993 | | cell line | application | | | | kinetics | effect |
| Crebelli | TCE | Exhaustive | various | various | various | various | Mutagenicity | Author's conclusion is that TCE activated by |
| 1989 | | summary of | | | | • | | microsomal fractions is "weakly mutagenic" |
| | | mutagenicity assays | | | | | | |
| | | up to 1989: | | | | | | |
| | | bacterial, fungal, | | | | | | |
| | | mammalian <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> | | | | | | |
| Daniel | CH, DCA, (also | B6C3F1 m mice | DW | Control | 33, 40 | 30, 60, 104 | Hyperplastic | Sig. and similar increased tumor incidence for |
| 1992 | chloroacetadehyde) | | | CH:1000 | | weeks | nodules, tumors | CH and DCA. |
| DeAnvelo | DCA TCA (also | B6C3F1 m mice. | MQ | Control. | 6 per dose | 14 davs | Increases in | Corn oil only payage increased PP in rat |
| 1989 | monochloroacetic | SD m rats | 1 | Corn oil. | eroup | - Cara | peroxisomal | DCA. TCA more effective in increasing PP in |
| | acid) | | | 1000 to 5000 | - | | enzymes (3 | mouse than in rat. TCA more effective than |
| | | | | | | | indicators) | DCA in mouse. |
| | | | | | | | | |

t

| Significant dose-response in liver neoplasia for 2 highest doses, threshold at 500 mg/L. | Increased apoptosis in highest group, increases in eosinophilic staining in treated groups, increased DNA labeling in mature hepatocytes. No increases in lipid peroxidation. | Slight apoptosisand eosinophilic staining in highest group. Increased DNA labeling in mature hepatocytes. No increases in lipid peroxidation. Increases in mitotic figures. No differences between males and females. (Note differences from Bull et al. 1990) | Liver weight icreases seen in mice and rats; due to hypertrophy in rats and hypertrophy/hyperplasia in mice. No necrosis, sig. increased DNA synthesis and mitotic figures in mice. Increases in PP and peroxisome volume density seen in mice. | TCE: Increases in PP seen in mice, none in rats, no increases in catalase. TCA: Increases in PP in both mice and rats, no increases in catalase. Intrinsic clearance for TCE in hepatocytes: mouse-rat>human. TCE increased PP in mouse and rat heaptocytes, none in human. | Author's conclusion there is evidence for mutagenicity of TCE, TCA, DCA, CH, but that studies are conflicting |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Liver pathology, carcinogenicity | Liver histopathology ³ H-thymidine labeling | Liver histopathology ³ H-thymidine labeling | Liver histopathology ¹ H-thymidine labeling, peroxisomal enzymes | Kinetics, PP | Mutagenicity |
| 4, 15, 30, 45, 60 weeks | 10 days | 11 days | 10 days | 10 days | various |
| 50 per dose group | 5 per dose group | 5 per dose group | 10 per dose group | 4-5 per dose group | various |
| Control Acetic acid 50 3500 5000 | Control, 100 250 500 1000 | Control 100 250 500 1000 | Control 500 1000 1500 | Control TCE: 50 100 200 2000 1000 10 10 200 20 200 200 | various |
| MQ | COG | COG | COG | COG | various |
| B6C3F1 m mice | B6C3F1 m & f mice | B6C3F1 m & f mice | B6C3F1 and Adderly Park (Swiss) m mice, Osborne-Mendel and Adderly Park (Wistar) m rats | Adderly Park (Swiss) m mice, Adderly Park (Wistar) m rats. Cultured rat, mouse, human hepatocytes | Exhaustive summary of mutagenicity assays up to 1995: bacterial, fungal, mammalian <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> |
| DCA | TCB | TCA | TCE | TCE, TCA | TCE, TCA, DCA, CH, trichloroethanol |
| DeAngelo 1991 | Dees 1993 | Dees 1994 | Elcombe 1985 | Elcombe 1985 | Fahrig 1995 |

| | 1-3 | | | | l | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|
| Signif. Increase in tumors, H-61 ras mutations identified, equal incidence of mutations in spontaneous and DCA/ICA induced tumors. DCA caused shift in frequency of mutations. | Highest dose caused increased micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes, micronucleated normochromatic erythrocytes, DNA crosslinking in leukocytes. | Vehicle had no effect on PP. Significant effects: TCA increased PP in rat liver, TCE increased PP in rat kidney. TCE and TCA incerased PP in mouse liver and kidney. No chemicals were as potent as WY. | TCE: no increase in tumors. TCA, DCA increased tumors with and without ENU. PB: no increase in tumors. | Rat hepatocytes more sensitive to cytoxicity. Transient inhibition in dye coupling seen w/ TCE and TCA in mouse cells | TCE: no increase in rat or female mouse hepatocyte labeling index, sig. Increases in male mouse hepatocytes, male rat renal cells, no increase in female rat or mouse renal cells. | No preneoplastic ATPase-deficient foci w/TCE |
| Liver tumors, K and H- <i>ras</i> mutations | Genotoxicity | PP in liver and kidney | Tumors | Cytotoxicity (LDH release) Intercellular communication (dye coupling) | Liver histopathology, ³ H-thymidine labeling | Liver histopathology ATPase |
| 104 weeks | 9 and 28 weeks (continuou s), and 10, 26, and 31 weeks (stop- exposed) | 10 days | 61 weeks | 4-24 hrs | 3-14 days | 4-10 weeks |
| i | 10 per dose group | 5-6 per dose group | 22-33 per dose group | NA | 3 per treatment period | 2-3 per treatment period |
| Control DCA:1000, 3500 TCA:4500 | Control 500 1000 3500 3500 | Control, Methyl cellulose control, positive control (WY 14643), TCE: 1000 TCA:500 | Controls ENU: 2.5, 10 mg/kg TCE: 3 40 TCA, DCA 5 5 8 5 8 | 0.0001 to 0.003 M (determined as non- cytotoxic) | TCE:500 | 2000 |
| MQ | MQ | COG | DW, ENU - IP | direct application | COG- TCE | Ι |
| B6C3F1 m mice | B6C3F1 m mice | B6C3F1 m mice, F- 344 m rats | B6C3F1 m mice | B6C3F1 mouse and F344 rat hepatocytes | B6C3F1 m&f mice, F344 m&f rats | Wistar microsomes, newborn Wistar m&f rats |
| TCA, DCA | DCA | TCE, TCA (also PCE and pentachloroethane, also TCE/PCE mix) | TCE, TCA, DCA, PB + ENU | TCE, TCA, CH, trichloroethanol, PB | TCE, PB, BB, unleaded gasoline | TCE, vinyl chloride |
| Ferreira- Gonzales 1995 | Fuscoe 1996 | Goldswort hy 1987 | Herren- Freund 1987 | Klaunig 1989 | Klaunig 1991 | Laib 1979 |

| DCA metabolized more extensively than TCA in mice and rats, half-life shorter. Higher plasma DCA in rats. Both TCA and DCA increased lipid peroxidation; DCA more potent (threshold 300 mg/kg). | Single-strand DNA breaks induced by single doses of DCA and TCA. PP induced only by repeated doses. Induction of breaks not related to PP. | c-H-ras expression elevated in carcinomas from both treatments relative to hyperplastic nodules and other tissue. C-myc levels higher in TCA induced carcinomas compared to DCA induced carcinomas. | PB and EtOH pretreatments enhanced TCE hepatoxicity (all doses). PB pretreated: TCE decreased metabolism, benzene aromatic hydroxylase activity, and P 450 content. EtOH pretreated: increased metabolism, benzene aromatic hydroxylase activity, no change P 450 content. | Dose response second-order for DCA, linear for TCA. DCA foci eosinophilic, GST- π positive. TCA foci basophilic, GST- π negative. | Dose response second-order for DCA, linear for TCA. DCA foci eosinophilic, GST- π positive. TCA foci basophilic, GST- π negative. DCA tumors regressed on cessation of exposure, TCA tumors did not. | Hyperplastic nodules expressed markers less in hyperplastic nodules as compared to tumors, except for c-jun. Nodules contained nests of marker-positive cells; none were detected in adjacent normal tissue. |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Metabolism, lipid peroxidation | PP, DNA breaks | c-myc and c- Hras expression | Histopathology enzyme action | Liver histopathology tumors, BRDU labeling index, GST-π | Liver histopathology tumors, GST-π | Tumor markers |
| Single doses | 1-24 hours | 37-52 weeks | 3 weeks | 360-576 days | 31-52 weeks | 4-60 weeks |
| 2-5 per dose group | 6-13 per dose group per time period | 4-12 per dose | 5 per dose group | 40-134 per dose | 10-40 per dose | 5 mice per dose per treatment period |
| Metabolism: 5 20 100 Lipid peroxication: Control 100 100 2000 | Control DCA: 10 500 TCA: 500 | Control 1000 2000 | TCE: 500 2000 8000 PB:80 mg/kg/d EtOH: 2g/d | Control 2.0 mmol/L 6.67 20 | Controls MNU: 25 mg/kg TCA, DCA: 2.0 mmol/L 6.67 2.0 | 5000 5000 |
| MQ | Tween gavage | MQ | TCE: I PB: IP BioH: DW | MQ | - MNU MNU | MQ |
| B6C3F1 m mice, F344 m rats | B6C3F1 m mice | B6C3F1 m mice | Wistar m rats | B6C3F1 f mice | B6C3F1 f mice | B6C3FI m mice |
| TCA, DCA | DCA, TCA | DCA, TCA | TCE, also ethanol and phenobarbital | DCA, TCA | DCA, TCA, +MNU | DCA |
| Larson 1992 | Nelson 1989 | Nelson 1990 | Okino 1991 | Pereira 1996 | Perreira 1996 | Richmond 1991 |

| DCA caused focal necrosis, TCA did not. Highest dose of both TCA and DCa caused increased labeling. | Down regulation of apoptosis in high treatment group. | Mice metabolized more TCE to toxic intermediates than rats. Liver toxicity in mice (doses>250), no sig. toxicity in rats. No kidney toxicity in either. No sig. DNA alkylation observed. | Peak conc. of TCA in dog blood higher than rat, but formation rate lower. DCA not detected in either. | DCA & PB depressed DNA synthesis, DCA- treated hepatocytes reponsive to growth factors (in contrast to PB). |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Liver histopathology ³ H-thymidine labeling | Liver histopathology apoptosis (<i>in</i> <i>situ</i> nick end- labeling) | Metabolism, liver and kidney toxicity, DNA alkylation | Metabolism, bile deposition, TCA plasma binding | Hepatocyte response to growth factors (hepatocyte, epidermal, fibroblast, ³ H-thymidine labeling |
| 2-14 days | 5-30 days | 6 hours 1, 3 days- 3- weeks COG | 0.25-240 hours | 0-90 days |
| 4-15 per dose per treatment period | 5 per sacrifice period per treatment group | 10-16 per dose group | 4 per dose group | 3 per treatment period |
| Control 300 100 2000 | Control 500 5000 | 1: 10 600 600 500 250 250 250 2400 1200 1200 1100 | 0.15- 0.76 mmol/kg | Control DCA: 3500 PB: 1% |
| MQ | DW | I, COG | Tween gavage | MQ |
| B6C3F1 m mice, Swiss-Webster m&f mice | B6C3F1 m mice | ,B6C3F1 m mice, Osborne-Mendel m rats | Fischer 344 m rats, beagle m dogs, human m blood | B6C3F1 m mice |
| DCA, TCA | DCA | TCE | TCE | DCA, PB |
| Sanchez 1990 | Snyder 1995 | Stott 1982 | Templin 1995 | Tsai 1996 |

Notes:

 First author and date: see References.
 TCE= trichloroethylene, TCA= trichloroacetic acid, DCVC=dichlorovinylcysteine and conjugates, CH= chloral hydrate, PCE=perchloroethylene (tetrachloroethylene), ENU=ethylnitrosurea, PB=phenobarbital, BB=sodium barbital. m= male, f= female
 I= inhalation, COG= corn oil gavage, WG= water gavage, DW= drinking water, IP=intraperitoneal.

- Inhalation study units= parts per million (ppm), gavage study units= milligrams per kilogram per day (mg/kg×d), drinking water units= milligrams/liter (mg/L).
 SA= specific activity of ³H-thymidine incorporated into hepatocyte DNA, LI= hepatocyte labeling index of ³H-thymidine treated liver slices, PP= peroxisomal proliferation
 Sig= statistically significant at α=0.05.